

UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA

INFLUENCE OF LIFE SATISFACTION, PEER RELATIONSHIPS, SELF-IMAGE, PARENTING STYLE AND SPIRTUALITY ON POSITIVE YOUTH DEVELOPMENT AMONG ADOLESCENTS IN SELANGOR MALAYSIA

ATEFEH KIADARBANDSARI

FEM 2015 22



INFLUENCE OF LIFE SATISFACTION, PEER RELATIONSHIPS, SELF-IMAGE, PARENTING STYLE AND SPIRTUALITY ON POSITIVE YOUTH DEVELOPMENT AMONG ADOLESCENTS IN SELANGOR MALAYSIA

By

ATEFEH KIADARBANDSARI

Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science



All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



DEDICATED TO

My beloved husband "Afshin" for his endless affections, encouragement and partnership for success in my life.



Abstract of thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science

INFLUECE OF LIFE SATISFACTION, PEER RELATIONSHIPS, SELF-IMAGE, PARENTING STYLE AND SPIRTUALITYON POSITIVE YOUTH DEVELOPMENT AMONG ADOLESCENTS IN SELANGOR MALAYSIA

By

ATEFEH KIADARBANDSARI

July 2015

Chair: Zainal Madon, PhD Faculty: Human Ecology

The focus of this study is to examine the influence of life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, and spirituality on Positive Youth Development (PYD) among 593 adolescents, ages 14 and 16 years old. PYD as a theoretical framework focuses on mutually influential relationships between individuals and contexts. Malaysia is planning to become a fully-developed country by the year 2020. Thus, adolescents are considered as a significant resource and should be nurtured to guarantee the supportable continuous growth of the country. While recent researchers have found PYD a pathway to self-thriving in Western societies, few studies have incorporated in Asian contexts. To address this paucity, the current study was primarily conducted to determine the relationship between life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, and spirituality with PYD, and the most significance predictor of PYD among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor. A total of 593 adolescents from four national secondary schools of Selangor participated using Multi-Stage Cluster sampling. Data was collected using self-administered questionnaire included Satisfaction with Life Satisfaction Scale, Inventory of Parent and Peer Attachment, Self-image consisted of two parts, namely, Physical Appearance and Personality/Social Acceptance, Parenting Style Inventory II, Daily Spiritual Experience Scale, and PYD-very short form. The findings revealed life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, authoritative parenting style, and spirituality were correlated positively and significantly with PYD. Furthermore, the regression analysis showed life satisfaction, peer relationships, authoritative parenting style, and spirituality explain a significant amount of the variance in the adolescents' PYD in Malaysia. Life satisfaction was identified as the most significant predictor of PYD. The study thus, provides significance contribution on how life satisfaction could enhance adolescent PYD. Findings from this study may have significant implications. Theoretically, the findings may shed light on the influence of context for adolescents in Malaysia as these studies shown variable were found to be highly correlated with PYD. From a practical perspective, the findings may imply that any effort in helping parents,

psychologist, practitioners, and policy makers. Future studies recommended including a vast sample of respondents from all of the states of Malaysia to ensure the generalizability of the findings in a wider context.



Abstrak tesis yang dikemukakan kepada Senat Universiti Putra Malaysia sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk ijazah Master Sains

PENGARUH KEPUASAN HIDUP, HUBUNGAN RAKAN SEBAYA, IMEJ KENDIRI, CARAGAYA KEIBUBAPAAN DAN SPIRITUALITI TERHADAP PERKEMBANGAN BELIA POSITIF (POSITIVE YOUTH DEVELOPMENT) DALAM KALANGAN REMAJA DI SELANGOR, MALAYSIA

Oleh

ATEFEH KIADARBANDSARI

Julai 2015

Pengerusi: Zainal Madon, PhD Fakulti: Ekologi Manusia

Fokus kajian ini adalah untuk mengkaji pengaruh kepuasan hidup, hubungan rakan sebaya, imej diri, gaya keibubapaan, dan spiritualiti terhadap Pembangunan Belia Positif (Positive Youth Development, PYD) dalam kalangan 593 remaja, berumur 14 dan 16 tahun. PYD sebagai rangka kerja teori memberi tumpuan kepada hubungan saling pengaruh antara individu dan konteks. Malaysia menuju ke arah sebuah negara maju sepenuhnya menjelang tahun 2020. Oleh itu, remaja dianggap sebagai aset yang penting dan perlu dipupuk untuk menjamin pertumbuhan berterusan negara. Walaupun penyelidik terkini telah mendapati PYD laluan perkembangan kendiri dalam masyarakat Barat, hanya beberapa kajian dilaksanakan dalam konteks Asia. Bagi menangani jurang ini, kajian semasa dijalankan untuk menentukan hubungan antara kepuasan hidup, hubungan rakan sebaya, imej kendiri, gaya keibubapaan, dan spiritualiti dengan PYD, dan peramal PYD yang paling signifikan dalam kalangan pelajar remaja sekolah menengah kebangsaan di Selangor. Seramai 593 remaja dari empat buah sekolah menengah kebangsaan di Selangor menggunakan persampelan kluster pelbagai peringkat. Data dikumpulkan dengan menggunakan soal selidik yang ditadbir sendiri termasuk Kepuasan, Perapatan Ibu Bapa dan Rakan Sebaya, Imej Kendiri terdiri daripada dua bahagian, iaitu, Penampilan fizikal dan Personaliti / Penerimaan Sosial, Cara Gaya Keibubapaan II, Skala Pengalaman Harian Spiritual, dan PYD-ringkas. Dapatan kajian menunjukkan kepuasan hidup, hubungan rakan sebaya, imej diri, gaya keibubapaan autoritatif, dan spiritualiti mempunyai hubungan yang positif dan signifikan dengan PYD. Analisis lanjutan menggunakan analisis regresi menunjukkan kepuasan hidup, hubungan rakan sebaya, gaya keibubapaan autoritatif, dan spiritualiti menyumbang varians yang signifikan ke atas PYD remaja di Malaysia. Kepuasan hidup telah dikenal pasti sebagai peramal yang paling penting PYD. Kajian itu, memberikan maklumat yang berharga tentang bagaimana kepuasan hidup boleh meningkatkan PYD remaja. Secara teorinya, penemuan menjelaskan pengaruh konteks

untuk remaja di Malaysia kerana kajian ini menunjukkan pembolehubah dikaji mempunyai kaitan yang tinggi dengan *PYD*. Dari perspektif praktikal, penemuan mungkin mencadangkan sebarang usaha membantu ibu bapa, ahli psikologi, pengamal dan pengubal dasar. Kajian masa depan dicadangkan menggunakan sampel responden yang lebih besar dari semua negeri di Malaysia bagi memastikan generalisasi penemuan dalam konteks yang lebih luas.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my dear supervisor, Dr. Zainal Madon, for his unlimited guidance, support, and kindness throughout this study. Without him this thesis, too, would not have been completed or written. I would also like to thank Dr. Hanina Hamsan for serving as a member on my thesis committee; her precious comments have been found very beneficial in my thesis. I will forever be thankful to my former advisor Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mariani Mansor for her patience and support. I would like to thank my parents for giving me strength to chase my dreams. My sisters deserve my wholehearted thanks as well. I express my warm thanks to Dr. Richard Lerner and his colleagues, especially Dr. Kristina Schmid for their pure assistance. A special thank you goes to my dear friends, Katayoun Mehdinezhad Nouri, Fariba Mostafa, Yi Ming, and Nina Hamdan for their support and encouragement in all exhausting moments. Last but not the least; I would like to appreciate everyone who supported me throughout this research.

APPROVAL

I certify that a Thesis Examination Committee has met on 6th July 2015 to conduct the final examination of Atefeh Kiadarbandsari on her thesis entitled "Influence of Life Satisfaction, Peer Relationships, Self-Image, Parenting Style, and Spirituality on Positive Youth Development Among Adolescents in Selangor Malaysia" in accordance with the Universities and University Colleges Act 1971 and the Constitution of the Universiti Putra Malaysia [P.U. (A) 106] 15 March 1998. The Committee recommends that the student be awarded the Master of Science.

Members of the Thesis Examination Committee were as follows:

Ahmad Tarmizi Talib, PhD

Associate Professor Faculty of Human Ecology Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Maznah Baba, PhD

Senior Lecturer
Faculty of Educational Studies
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Internal Examiner)

Sapora Sipon PhD

Senior Lecturer
Faculty of Leadership and Management
Universiti Sains Islam Malaysia
(External Examiner)

Zulkarnain Zainal, PhD

Deputy Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia Date: 14 October 2015 This thesis was submitted to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Zainal Madon, PhD

Senior Lecturer Faculty of Human Ecology Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Hanina Halimatusaadiah Hamsan, PhD

Senior Lecturer Faculty of Human Ecology Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

BUJANG BIN KIM HUAT PhD

Professor Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date:

Declaration by Graduate Student

I hereby confirm that:

- this thesis is my original work;
- quotations, illustrations and citations have been duly referenced;
- this thesis has not been submitted previously or concurrently for any other degree at any other institutions;
- intellectual property from the thesis and copyright of thesis are fully-owned by Universiti Putra Malaysia, as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012:
- written permission must be obtained from supervisor and the office of Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research and Innovation) before thesis is published (in the form of written, printed or in electronic form) including books, journals, modules, proceedings, popular writings, seminar papers, manuscripts, posters, reports, lecture notes, learning modules or any other materials as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- there is no plagiarism or data falsification/fabrication in the thesis, and scholarly integrity is upheld as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) and the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012. The thesis has undergone plagiarism detection software.

Signature:	Date:
Name and Matric No.:	

Declaration by Members of Supervisory Committee

This is to confirm that:

- the research conducted and the writing of this thesis was under our supervision;
- supervision responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) are adhered to.

Signature:	
Name of Chairman of	
Supervisory	
Committee:	PM
Signature:	
Name of Member of	
Supervisory	
Committee:	
Signature:	
Name of Member of	
Supervisory	
Committee:	
Signature:	
Name of Member of	
Supervisory	
Committee:	
Committee.	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
APPRO DECLA LIST OF LIST OF	AK OWLEDO VAL RATION F TABLE F FIGUR	ES	i iii v vi viii xii xiii xiv
СНАРТЕ	CR CR		
1	INTR	RODUCTION	1
	1.1	Introduction	1
	1.2	Significance of study	5
	1.3	Research Questions	7
	1.4	Research Objectives	7
	1.5	Research Hypothesis	8
	1.6	Definitions of terms	9
		1.6.1 Positive Youth Development (PYD)	9
		1.6.2 Life Satisfaction	9
		1.6.3 Peer Relationships	9
		1.6.4 Self-image	10
		1.6.5 Parenting Style	10
		1.6.6 Spirituality	10
	1.7	Limitation of the study	11
	1.9	Summary of the chapter	11
2	LITE	CRATURE RE <mark>VIEW</mark>	13
	2.1	Introduction	13
	2.2	Positive Youth Development (PYD)	15
	2.3	Background characteristics and PYD	18
	2.4	Life Satisfaction and PYD	21
	2.5	Peer relationships and PYD	24
	2.6	Self-image and PYD	25
	2.7	Parenting style and PYD	26
	2.8	Spirituality and PYD	28
	2.9	Theoretical framework	30
	2.10	Conceptual framework	33
	2.11	Research Gaps	34
	2.12	Summary of the chapter	35
3		ERIALS AND METHODS / METHODOLOGY	37
	3.1	Introduction	37
	3.2	Research Design	37
	3.3	Location of the study	37

	3.4	Population and Sampling Procedure	37
		3.4.1 Population Characteristics	38
		3.4.2 Sampling Procedure	38
		3.4.3 Sample size	40
	3.5	Data Collection	41
	3.6	Instrumentation	41
		3.6.1 Background profile	42
		3.6.2 Satisfaction with Life Scale	42
		3.6.3 Inventory of Peer Attachment Revised	43
		3.6.4 Self-image scale	43
		3.6.5 The Parenting Style Inventory II	43
		3.6.6 The Daily Spiritual Experience Scale	44
		3.6.7 Positive Youth Development very short form	44
	3.7	Reliability and Validity	45
	3.,	3.7.1 Reliability	45
		3.7.2 Content Validity	46
	3.8	Data Analysis	46
	3.0	3.8.1 Normality	46
	3.9	Summary of the chapter	47
	3.7	Summary of the chapter	77
4	RESU	LTS AND DISCUSSION	49
	4.1	Introduction	49
	4.2	Descriptive Findings	49
		4.2.1 Demographic Background	49
	4.3	Inferential Findings	56
		4.3.1 t-test Analysis and ANOVA Analysis	56
		4.3.2 Correlational Analysis	63
		4.3.3 Multiple Regression Analysis	68
	4.4	Summary of the chapter	71
5		MARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND IMPLICATIONS	73
	5.1	Introduction	73
	5.2	Summary of the findings	73
		5.1.1 Objective 1	74
		5.1.2 Objective 2	74
		5.1.3 Objective 3	74
		5.1.4 Objective 4	75
	5.3	Conclusions	75
	5.4	Theoretical implications	75
	5.5	Practical and policy implications	77
	5.6	Recommendation for Future Research	78
	5.7	Summary of the chapter	79
DEEDER	TEC		0.1
REFERENC			81
APPENDIC		IDENT	104
BIODATA (131
LIST OF PU	BLIC	ATIONS	132

LIST OF TABLES

Tabl	e	Page
1.	Five Cs Of Positive Youth Development Definitions	16
2.	Reliability Coefficients Of Instruments For Pilot Test	45
3.	Skewness And Kurtosis Of Study Variables	47
4.	Frequency Distribution (N), Percentage Of Adolescent Characteristic	50
5.	Frequency Distribution (N), Percentage Of Parents' Characteristic	50
6.	Level Of Participants' PYD	51
7.	Level Of Participants' Life Satisfaction	52
8.	Level Of Participants' Peer Relationships	53
9.	Level Of Participants' Self-Image	54
10.	Patterns Of Participants' Parenting Style	55
11.	Level Of Participants' Spirituality	56
12.	Comparison Of PYD Mean Score By Age	57
13.	Comparison Of PYD Mean Score By Gender	57
14.	Comparison Of PYD Mean Score By School Location	59
15.	Means And Standard Deviations Of PYD By Race	60
16.	One Way ANOVA Between Participants' Races	61
17.	Post Hoc Results For PYD Scores By Race	61
18.	Mean And Standard Deviation Of Parents' Level Of Education	62
19.	A One Way ANOVA Between Mothers' Levels Of Education	63
20.	A One Way ANOVA Between Fathers' Levels Of Education	63
21.	Correlations Between Life Satisfaction And PYD	64
22.	Correlations Between Peer Relationships And PYD	65
23.	Correlations Between Self-Image And PYD	65
24.	Correlations Between Parenting Styles And PYD	66
25.	Correlations Between Spirituality And PYD	67
26.	Results Of Multicollinearity Diagnosis	69
27.	Results Of Multiple Regression Analysis On The Predictor Of PYD	70

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page	
1.	Developmental Systems Theory-Based Model Of Thriving	32	
2.	Conceptual Framework	34	
3.	Sampling Procedure	39	
4.	Plots Of Predicted Values Of PYD Against Residual	68	



LIST OF ABBREVATIONS

DSES The Daily Spiritual Experience Scale

IPPA-R The Inventory of Parent and Peer Attachment
JKEUPM Jawatakuasa Etika Universiti Melibatkan Manusia

MoEMinistry of Education MalaysiaPSI-IIThe Parenting Style Inventory IIPYDPositive Youth Development

PYD-VSF Positive Youth Development Very Short Form

SMK Sekolah Menengah Kebangsaan

SWB Subjective Well-Being

SWLS The Satisfaction With Life Scale

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

Richards (2008) defined adolescence as the period between the onset of puberty and attainment of adulthood, i.e. approximately 13-19 years of age. The term "adolescence" originated from the Latin word *adolescere*, which means "growing to adulthood" (Lerner & Steinberg, 2009). In all cultures, adolescence is the transitional period from childhood into adulthood, signifying the readiness of an individual to face the challenges of the future (Larson, Wilson, & Rickman, 2009; Schlegel, 2009).

The definition of "youth" has become a methodological challenge in research on youth development. Most researchers have indicated that youth includes roughly the second decade of life, corresponding to between 10 and 20 years of age (Hamilton, Hamilton, & Pittman, 2004; Lerner et al., 2005). In Malaysia, the age for youth is defined as those between 15 and 40 years old but the main focus of development programs in the country are for those aged between 18 to 25 (Faizah, 2007).

Adolescence is the period in which an individual experiences biological, cognitive, social, and economic transitions (Steinberg, 2010). Based on Rathus (2011), these challenges, and the adolescents' ability to cope with them, vary during the phases of adolescents and most observers (e.g. Seiffge-Krenke et al., 2009; Sontag et al., 2008) divide adolescence into three phases as early adolescence (11 or 12 to 14 years of age) which is characterized by rapid biological changes, relatively high level of stress, and relatively low coping ability; middle adolescence (approximately 14 to 16 years) that biological changes have largely run their course. Stress diminishes somewhat and coping ability increases; late adolescence (16 to 18 or 19 years) in which the adolescent matures so that she or he looks more like an adult. Stress usually declines and coping ability is usually higher than in early and middle adolescents.

Developmental systems theories of human development demonstrate that the foundation of positive and thriving routes through the lifetime of an individual is influenced by a bidirectional and beneficial relationship between this individual and the current sources in the context that preserves and increases healthy development (Baltes, Lindenberger, & Staudinger, 2006; Brandtstadter, 2006). In the early 1990s, a new style and term related to the positive youth development (PYD) perspective emerged to illustrate the usage of a special age of developmental system theories. Measuring the potential for positive transitions in various areas during the life span from childhood to the 10th and 11th decades of a lifetime is one example of the desire to focus on flexibility through these theories (Baltes et al., 2006). Although the researchers cited the lack of consensus on the description of PYD, major explanations focused on five

concepts, namely, (a) progressive environments, (b) the nature of the child with emphasis on the distinctive ability to develop and thrive, (c) developmental strengths and two complementary conceptualizations of developmental success, (d) the reduction of high-risk behavior, and (e) the promotion of thriving (Benson, Scales, Hamilton, & Semsa, 2006).

The theory of PYD focuses on the association of the strengths and environmental assets of adolescents for increasing their respective appropriate and positive outcomes. Based on the alignment between individual and context, the theory suggests that the youths may improve their positive features by developing their "Five Cs". After the development of these Cs, a sixth C will emerge as the "contribution" of the youth to himself/herself, family, and society (Lerner et al., 2005). The preceding analysis implies that PYD is positively connected to contribution, whereas it is negatively to atrisk and problem behaviors.

Theokas and Lerner (2006) have recognized the settings in the ecology of youth that create main developmental assets due to encouraging such as the people in youths' lives (e.g., parents, teachers, trainers, and mentors), the institutions existing in their community (e.g., structured out-of-school-time [OST] activities, or libraries), the situations for young people and adults to work together in valued community activities (e.g., on school boards); and the accessibility to these individuals and institutions (e.g., due to suitable transportation, keeping a safe setting for youth, or low financial costs).

Theokas and Lerner (2006) similarly discussed that individuals in the youths' context is the most significant development asset that is related to a higher level of PYD and a lower level of at-risk behaviors (e.g., bullying or substance abuse); they also referred to other individuals in all of the settings who are caring, committed, and involved in the lives of the youth. Theokas and Lerner further stated that collective activities in the family setting (i.e., having meals together) are the major predictors of PYD; similarly, school accessibility, the small size of school, unenthusiastic teachers, number of students, and presence of mentors in the current community play significant roles as assets for PYD (Larson, 2006).

Instead of seeking situations that can reduce or prevent the occurrence of problematic activities, PYD theory extends the range of investigations to measure the individual and context relationships for increasing the thriving among adolescents and incurring a defensive influence. The factors that describe the development of thriving among the youth must be examined. Thriving refers to the development of attributes, thereby compelling a person to become successful and experience healthy growth (Lerner, von Eye, Lerner, Lewin-Bizan, & Bowers, 2010). Youths with higher thriving exhibit distinct characteristics, such as competence, confidence, character, connection, and caring, which are collectively known as the "Five Cs" (Lerner et al., 2005).

Positive youth development attempts to identify how gender differences, cognition, psychological factors (e.g., positive regard, sense of identity), and social networks with family and peers play out across multiple contexts (Lerner, 2004). Moreover, PYD

focuses on the positive or adaptive factors that support a successful transition from adolescence to adulthood (Durlak, 1998).

In sum, the importance of PYD must be significantly considered for increasing the thriving of adolescents via the enhancement of the influential factors in their contexts (i.e., families, schools, and communities) along with their strengths. Several developmental assets influence PYD and its indicators (Five Cs). However, this study focuses on the life satisfaction of adolescents, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, and spirituality.

1.1 Statement of the problem

Prevention science regards adolescence as a period in which young people experience risk-taking situations, conflicts, and troubles (Schwartz, Pantin, Coatsworth, & Szapocznik, 2007). By contrast, the PYD perspective concentrates on the strengths of youths and promotes their thriving by coordinating their strengths with contextual sources (Benson et al., 2006; Lerner, Phelps, Forman, & Bowers, 2009; Lerner et al., 2010).

Studies have reported that the occurrence of adolescent developmental problems, including school violence (Wong, 2004), adolescent suicide (Sun & Hui, 2007), and substance abuse (Shek, 2007), have exhibited an increasing trend. Nonetheless, considerable evidence has revealed that PYD and the other positive structures can hinder the prevalence of negative outcomes of adolescents (Phelps et al., 2009; Tebes et al., 2007). Prevention the onset of problem behaviors (e.g., substance abuse) is crucial among young people (i.e., prior to age 15) because they may be at risk of long-term troubles such as addiction (Windle, Mun, & Windle, 2005) and educational failure (King, Meehan, Trim, & Chassin, 2006). Evidence has also demonstrated that early sexual experience can increase the level of at-risk sexual behaviors, such as sexual relationships with numerous partners and unprotected sex (Smith, 1997). In this case, adolescents are more vulnerable to at-risk sexual infections, including HIV. Schwarts and colleagues (2010) argued that youths who are not engaged in early sexual activities may display more positive long-term outcomes.

Hashim (2007) contended that Malaysian teenagers, in general, face numerous life challenges and experience distress. They are at risk of becoming frustrated and unhappy youths and may choose to get involved in negative activities such as gangsterism, drug abuse, bullying, sexual misconduct, and crime. Chin Siang and Abu Talib (2011) by reporting Diyanah (2010) stated 77% of youth were not happy with life in Malaysia. Based on this background, this study seeks to ascertain the influence of life satisfaction on youths' PYD. Abdul Kadir et al. (2012) indicated that 25% of the population would be classified as at-risk youth in Malaysia. According to the Malaysian Youth Report (Hamzah, 2007), substance abuse and underage sexual intercourse are the most prevalent risk behavior among the adolescents and youths.

Many adolescents may feel uncertain about their academic achievements and social skills and may feel less connected to their parents and peers. In the greater ecological contexts through the transition of these adolescents to new and different learning contexts, acquiring experiences and autonomy under these new social conditions become their significant developmental targets. Hence, determining PYD is a beneficial factor in the thriving of young individuals who are undergoing life changes is significant. Adolescents increasingly participate in activities outside of their homes and become more involved within peer groups during their transition period from middle school or junior high school. Meanwhile, when adolescents enjoy more freedom and power, they are expected to be self-managed, more responsible, and active participants of social activities (Bowers, Li, Kiely, Brittian, Lerner, V., & Lerner, M., 2010). Protective features such as family members, friends, and social organizations guarantee and promote positive opportunities for adolescents while growing up and transitioning into adulthood (Bellis, Downing, & Ashton, 2006). In this case, developmental studies must explore the critical influential aspects of assets on the life of adolescents (Lerner et al., 2003).

A series of recent studies drew attention to the increased crime rate, such as pornography, destructive behavior, truancy (Mey, 2010), and drug addicts (Mohamed, Marican, Elias, & Don, 2008) among Malaysian youths, thereby raising the concern over juvenile delinquency (Nasir, Zamani, Khairudin, & Wan Shahrazad, 2011). Family, peer and school environments directly or indirectly contribute to these risk behaviors (Nasir et al., 2011). In particular, negligence, as an absence of a caregiving relationship with adolescents, is a significant risk factor underlying the development of risk behaviors. Related studies showed that most of the drug addicts started abusing substance when they were still secondary school students (Ghani, Zamani, Rahman, Zainal, & Sulaiman, 2008).

This study aims to determine which among the independent variables (i.e., life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, and spirituality) has a higher level of relationship with PYD within the Malaysian context. Only a few studies have examined PYD in Malaysia. Therefore, the number of comprehensive studies on PYD among adolescents within the Malaysian context is inadequate. Thus, the PYD factors among Malaysian adolescents should be further investigated to help them improve their strengths and prevent them from developing or acquiring problem behaviors. According to Aribi et al. (2007), youth development efforts in Malaysia in this era should be undertaken judiciously. The population of Malaysia, which is a multi-ethnic developing country, is increasing annually. Based on the Statistics Yearbook Malaysia (Department of Statistics, 2011) in 2010 youths constituted 42 % (10.95 million) of the 26 million Malaysian citizens. Malaysia is planning to become a fully-developed country by the year 2020. Thus, youths are considered as a significant resource and should be nurtured (Ruth & Brooks-Gun, 2003) to guarantee the supportable continuous growth of the country (Mohamad, Mohammad, Mamat, & Mamat, 2014).

1.2 Significance of study

Several aspects highlight the significance of this study. The first aspect refers to the influence of life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, and spirituality on PYD; previous studies (e.g., Jelicic, Bobek, Phelps, Lerner, V., & Lerner, M., 2007; Lerner et al., 2005; Phelps et al., 2007, 2009; Zimmerman, Phelps, & Lerner, 2007; Gilman & Huebner, 2003; Bloomquist, 2010; James, Fine, & Turner, 2012) have cited these variables as positively and significantly related with each another.

The PYD perspective provides a basis for how a strength-based idea of youth can provide a revised schedule for the study of adolescent development and a different emphasis for programs and policies designed to improve the life opportunities of youths with varied circumstances. Hence, such a perspective recommends that policies should focus not only on decreasing or preventing problems, but also on nurturing conditions that encourage the attributes of thriving (Lerner et al., 2010). Positive PYD benefits both the individual development and the welfare of the social context that supports the development of all individuals (Lerner, 2004). This rationale clarifies the importance of measuring PYD for youth development in the social world of youth and for applications (e.g., community-based programs) that aim to promote youth thriving (Phelps et al., 2009). Theokas and Lerner (2006) stated that in all contexts, the assets related to individuals are the most powerful aspect in predicting PYD. They also noted that family is the most significant asset in the lives of adolescents.

Several studies have indicated the potential role of life satisfaction as a barrier against the negative effects of stress and the development of psychopathological behavior (e.g., Suldo & Huebner, 2004). Proctor, Linley, and Maltby (2009) asserted that such a finding is extremely important in promoting positive development among the youth. The literature demonstrates the need for research among children and adolescents across cultures because the majority of previous studies in this area was conducted only within the United States. Hence, Proctor, Linley, Maltby (2009) proposed that future research should assess the capacity of life satisfaction measures to transcend cultures and specific groups.

The other variable in the current study is self-image. Negative body- and self-image can adversely affect the quality of life of adolescents (ter Bogt et al., 2006). ter Bogt et al. (2006) contended that the self-image of an individual influences the choices that he/she makes, including the types of social activities he/she engages in, and that negative self-image can cause problems such as depression. Evidence suggests that teens with low self-image are more likely to engage in negative behaviors such as drug abuse (ter Bogt et al., 2006).

A common societal assumption is that having a strong spiritual core is a developmental asset for adolescents; however, very little empirical evidence supports this argument (Lerner, Roeser, & Phelps, 2009). Lerner, Albert, Anderson, and Dowling (2006a) indicated that although multiple relationships between people and contexts have been the focus of research on PYD, the role of spirituality in thriving among young people

merits further attention because it may fuel the adaptive individual and context relations that enable humans to productively contribute to the healthy development of self, family, community, and civil society. Unfortunately, despite the importance of spirituality in adolescent development, a review of the literature showed that less than 1% of the studies on children and adolescents examined the issues on spirituality and religiosity (Benson, Roehlkepartain, & Rude, 2003).

In fact, these variables have not been thoroughly explored in the Malaysian context. The population of Malaysia, which is a multi-ethnic developing country, is increasing annually. The Department of Statistics of Malaysia (Statistical Handbook Malaysia, 2013) reported the presence of 29,906,800 citizens of all ethnicities in Malaysia in 2013. With regard to demographic variables, Theokas and Lerner (2006) revealed a significant link between gender and PYD whose outcomes are contribution and risk behavior. They further indicated that girls exhibit higher PYD and contribution but lower risk behaviors. In terms of age, the 4-H Study (Lerner, 2005) was conducted based on the grades of the participants because it was designed as a longitudinal research. Meanwhile, the findings for such an investigation were collected yearly via the grades. Thus, the current research as a cross-sectional study aims to assess PYD via the age of the participants. Meanwhile, race/ethnicity was determined to be the only significant predictor of risk behaviors. Among three different races, namely, European American, Latino, and African American, the African American respondents displayed higher scores on risk behaviors. A previous study (Schmid, Phelps, Kiely, Napolitano, Boyd, & Lerner, 2011) revealed that the respondents who have mothers with high education are more likely to be in the appropriate PYD, contribution, and depressive symptoms groups compared with the respondents whose mothers with a level of education. Approximately 8,352,900 people of this population are 10 to 24 years old. Therefore, the results of this study may provide parents with valuable information with regard to how they can help their children and adolescents thrive in numerous areas. Families can increase the safe relationships of young individuals with family members, peers, and community. Parents can realize significant features related to the positive development of their adolescent children.

Moreover, the findings of this study can support educators in their efforts to improve PYD among adolescents who are engaged with adolescence transition outcomes. Adolescents, who are at risk of developing behavior problems, such as substance abuse, suicidal tendencies, dropping out of school, depression, and delinquency, can be protected by influential and early intervention by educators. The results of this study may also guide family policy makers in planning government policies, strategies, and programs for developing and increasing family and youth well-being. They can increase the advantages of PYD through trained and experienced educators and positive programs for children and adolescents to improve their strengths.

Overall, PYD aims to promote a variety of developmental competences that youths need to become productive, contributing members of society. Instead of a pathological focus, PYD stresses the strengths, resources, and potential of young people, consequently upholding positive expectations of the contributions that youths can make to society and to their immediate environments. Moreover, PYD adopts a holistic view of development by focusing on the physical, personal, social, emotional, intellectual,

and spiritual development of the youths (Durlak et al., 2007). The findings of the current investigation can enhance our knowledge about PYD, given the lack of a comprehensive study related to PYD as a new perspective in Malaysia. This study can also be used as a reference in future research.

1.3 Research Questions

- 1. What is the level of PYD, life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, and spirituality among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor?
- 2. Are there any significant differences in PYD level by adolescents' age, gender, race, school location as urban or rural, and parents' level of education among adolescent students of national secondary schools of Selangor?
- 3. Are there any relationships between life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, spirituality and PYD among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor?
- 4. Do life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, and spirituality significantly predict PYD among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor?

1.4 Research Objectives

Generally, the aim of the current study is to determine the influence of life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, and spirituality on PYD among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor.

The specific objectives are as follows:

- 1. To determine the level of PYD, life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, and spirituality among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor
- 2. To determine the differences in PYD by adolescent's age, gender, race, school location as urban or rural, and parents' level of education among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor
- 3. To determine the relationships between life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, and spirituality with PYD among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor

 To determine if life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, and spirituality are predictors of PYD among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor

1.5 Research Hypothesis

Based on the aforementioned research questions and objectives, hypotheses are considered as follow:

- H01. There is no significant difference in PYD level between 14 years old and 16 years old students of national secondary schools in Selangor.
- H02. There is no significant difference in PYD by gender among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor.
- H03. There is no significant difference in PYD by school location as urban or rural among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor.
- H04. There is no significant difference in PYD by ethnicity among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor.
- H05. There is no significant difference in PYD by parents' education among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor.
- H06. There is no significant relationship between life satisfaction and overall PYD among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor.
- H07. There is no significant relationship between peer relationships and overall PYD among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor.
- H08. There is no significant relationship between self-image and overall PYD among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor.
- H09. There is no significant relationship between different parenting styles and overall PYD among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor.
- H010. There is no significant relationship between spirituality and overall PYD among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor.
- H011. Life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, and spirituality do not significantly predict PYD among adolescent students of national secondary schools in Selangor.

1.6 Definitions of terms

This part describes the conceptual and operational definitions of variables that were used in this study.

1.6.1 Positive Youth Development (PYD)

Conceptual definition: Development that occurs from an intentional process that promotes positive outcomes for young people by providing opportunities, relationships and the support to promote outcomes of competence, character, caring, confidence, connections, and contribution (Lerner et al., 2006b).

Operational definition: The score of the PYD-VSF (Positive Youth Development very short form) scale consists of 17 items, which measure the five indicators of PYD, namely, competence (academic, social, and physical competence), confidence (self-worth, positive identity, and appearance), character (social conscience, values diversity, conduct behavior, and personal values), caring (its subscale items were an exception because it was not composed of any subscale), and connection (family, neighborhood, school, and peer). In the PYD short version, all of the items do not sufficiently illustrate PYD as a construct, and some items should not be involved when researchers intend to compute an overall PYD composite score. Specifically, the items from the physical appearance, social competence, and physical competence subscales should be eliminated from a PYD composite (Geldhof et al., 2014).

1.6.2 Life Satisfaction

Conceptual definition: This concept pertains to a judgmental procedure in which people determine the quality of their lives according to their personal matchless set of values (Shin & Johnson, 1978).

Operational definition: The score of SWLS (Satisfaction with Life Scale; Diener, Emmnos, Larsen, & Griffin, 1985) is determined via a five-item scale that measures the global cognitive judgments of one's life satisfaction (not a measure of either positive or negative effect).

1.6.3 Peer Relationships

Conceptual definition: The term "peer" refers to people who are about the same age or maturity level (Santrock, 2008). Peer relationship is defined by its characteristics, including receiving social care, awareness of each other's life affairs, and establishing friendly connections that can strongly influence the adjustment of a young person during adolescence more than the other stages of life (Engels, Kerr, & Stattin, 2007).

Operational definition: The score of peer attachment subscale of the revised version of IPPA-R (Inventory of Parent and Peer Attachment–Revised; Armsden & Greenberg, 1987) measures the grade of mutual trust, quality of communication, and degree of anger or alienation by asking 25 questions. The IPPA-R was developed to determine the whether the perceptions of adolescents toward the affective/cognitive dimension negatively or positively influences their relationships with close friends and parents, particularly on how well they play a role as sources of psychological security.

1.6.4 Self-image

Conceptual definition: ter Bogt et al. (2006) defined self-image as the conception of an individual of him-/herself and an assessment of physical features (e.g., weight, height, and appearance), personality, and personal worth.

Operational definition: The score of five different parts, which are extracted from two different parts of the Harter (1982, 1988) questionnaire, "What Am I Like"; the scale of "Social Acceptance" and "Romantic Appeal" for measuring the Personality/Social Acceptance, as well as other sub-scales from the Eating Disorder Inventory (EDI) (Garner, Olmstead & Polivy, 1983) and from the "Drive for Thinness (DT) and Body Dissatisfaction (BS)" sub-scale for determining Physical Appearance via 20 questions; this combined questionnaire was used before in the study of Bloomquist (2010).

1.6.5 Parenting Style

Conceptual definition: Darling and Steinberg (1993) defined parenting style as the emotional climate in which parents bring up their children. Parenting style has been discussed based on two significant components, namely, responsiveness and demandingness (Maccoby & Martin, 1983; Baumrind, 1991).

Operational definition: The scores of 10 questions in the five-point Likert-type scale, which is called PSI–II (Parenting Style Inventory II; Darling, Cumsille, & Peña-Alampay, 2005; Darling & Toyokawa, 1997).

1.6.6 Spirituality

Conceptual definition: This concept pertains to the attitude of people toward seeking a meaning in their lives based on self-transcendence or the need to be related to something greater than the individual self (Zinnbauer, Pargament, & Scott, 1999).

Operational definition: The score of DSES (Daily Spiritual Experience Scale) is designed as a 16-item self-report for evaluating the usual experiment of linkage with the transcendent in daily life that contains some concepts, such as awe, gratitude, mercy, sense of associating with the transcendent, and compassionate love. This scale

also measures the consciousness of discernment/inspiration and the feeling of profound internal peace (Underwood, 2011).

1.7 Limitation of the study

Similar to other investigations, this study has several limitations. The first limitation refers to the type of data collection method. The data will be collected with self-report questionnaires; thus, numerous data might be missed by the respondents. The usage of this type of instrument may also miss the benefits that can be obtained from conducting interviews.

The second limitation of this study is the usage of cross-sectional design. The longitudinal design of data collection can provide more reliable results that can be valid for a long time.

The third limitation concerns the location of the investigation. This study will be conducted in Selangor, a district of Malaysia. Accordingly, the results of this study may be inappropriate to be generalized to other samples or to larger populations from other regions of Malaysia or even other countries.

1.9 Summary of the chapter

This chapter began with the introduction of the study, which discussed the background of the study, statement of the problem, significance of the study, objective of the study, and research hypotheses. The introduction was then followed by the discussion of the theoretical background, conceptual framework, definitions of terms, and limitations of the study.

This research aims to explore PYD as a new model of developmental system theory, which focuses on the strength of adolescents and the context for improving the healthy development of individuals within the Malaysian context. This study also seeks to measure the effects of important variables pertinent to PYD, including life satisfaction, peer relationships, self-image, parenting style, and spirituality. The respondents will be selected from different national secondary schools of Selangor. The subsequent chapter discusses the previous research related to this study.

REFERENCES

- Abdul Kadir, N.B., Rahim, S.A., Mustapha, Z., Abdul Mutalib, M.H., Kee, C.P. and Mohamed, R.M. (2012). External Assets as Predictors of Positive Emotions Among At-Risk Youth in Malaysia. *Asian Social Work and Policy Review* 6, 203–217.
- Abdullah, A.J., Doucouliagos, H. and Manning, E. (2014). Are regional incomes in Malaysia converging? *Papers in Regional Science*, doi: 10.1111/pirs.12105.
- Adalbjarnardottir, S. and Hafsteinsson, L.G. (2001). Adolescents' Perceived Parenting Styles and Their Substance Use: Concurrent and Longitudinal Analyses. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 401–423.
- Alberts, A.E., Christiansen, E.D., Chase, P., Naudeau, S., Phelps, E. and Lerner, R.M. (2006). Qualitative and quantitative assessments of thriving and contribution in early adolescence: Findings from the 4-H Study of Positive Youth Development. *Journal of Youth Development: Bridging Research and Practice*.
- Alwan, H., Viswanthan, B., Rousson, V., Paccaud, F. and Bovet, P. (2011). Association between substance use and psychosocial characteristics among adolescents of the Seychelles. *BMC Pediatr 2011*.
- Anderson, B.J., Holmes, M.D. and Ostresh, E. (1999). Male and female delinquents' attachments and effects of attachments on severity of self-reported delinquency. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 435-452.
- Anderson, S.A., Sabatelli, R.M. and Kosutic, I. (2007). Families, Urban Neighborhood Youth Centers, and Peers as Contexts for Development. *Family Relations*, 56: 346–357.
- Ang, R.P. (2006). Effects of parenting style on personal and social variables for Asian adolescents. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 76(4): 503–511.
- Aribi, A.S., Sahari, N.M. and Ahmad, H.N. (2007). Youth not registered underassociation. *Malaysia Research Institute of Youth Development*, 78-89.
- Armsden, G. and Greenberg, M. (1987). The Inventory of Parent and Peer Attachment: Individual differences and their relationship to psychological well-being in adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 427–454.
- Armsden, G. and Greenberg, M.T. (2009). Inventory of Parent and Peer Attachment (IPPA). College of Health and Human Development.
- Ary, D., Jacobs, L.C. and Razavieh, A. (1996). *Introduction to Research in Education,* 5th Ed. Fort Worth, TX: Harcourt Brace College Publishers.
- Azmita, M. (2002). Self, self-esteem, conflicts, and best friendships in early adolescence. In T. Brinthaupt, *Undrestang early adolescent self and identity:*

- Applications and interventions (pp. 167-192). Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Babbie, E. (1989). The practice of social research. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Baltes, P.B. and Baltes, M.M. (1990). Psychological perspectives on successful aging: The model of selective optimization with compensation. In P. Baltes, & M. Baltes, Successful aging: Perspectives from the behavioral sciences (pp. 1-34). New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Baltes, P.B., Lindenberger, U. and Staudinger, U.M. (2006). Life span theory in developmental psychology. In W. Damon, & R. Lerner, *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 1. Theoretical models of human development(6th ed.)* (pp. 569–664). NY: Wiley.
- Baltes, P.B., Reese, H.W. and Nesselroade, J.R. (1977). *Life-span developmental psychology: Introduction to research methods*. Monterey, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Baumrind, D. (1971). Current patterns of parental authority. *Developmental Psychology Monograph*, 1–103.
- Baumrind, D. (1989). Rearing competent children. In W. Damon, *Child Development Today And Tomorrow* (pp. 349-378). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Baumrind, D. (1991). Parenting styles and adolescent development. In J. Gunn, R. Lerner, & A. Peterson, *The Encyclopedia of Adolescence* (pp. 746–758). New York: Garland.
- Bellis, M.A., Downing, J. and Ashton, J.R. (2006). Adults at 12? Trends in puberty and their public health consequences. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 60:910-911.
- Benson, P.L. and Roehlkepartain, E.C. (2008). Spiritual development: A missing priority in youth development. *New Directions for Youth Development*, 118, 128 132.
- Benson, P., Roehlkepartain, E.C. and Rude, S.P. (2003). Spiritual development in childhood and adolescence: Toward a field of inquiry. *Applied Developmental Science*, 7, 204 212.
- Benson, P.L. (1997). All kids are our kids: What communities must do to raise caring and responsible children and adolescents. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Benson, P.L. and Scales, P.C. (2009). The definition and preliminary measurement of thriving in adolescence. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 85–104.
- Benson, P.L., Scales, P.C., Hamilton, S.F. and Semsa, A., Jr. (2006). Positive youth Development: Theory, research, and applications. In R. Lerner, *Theoretical models of human development. Volume 1 of Handbook of Child Psychology* (6th ed.) Editors-in-chief: W. Damon & R. M. Lerner. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.

- Benson, P.L., Scales, P.C., Syvertsen, A.K. and Roehlkepartain, E.C. (2012). Is youth spiritual development a universal developmental process? An international exploration. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, 7(6), 453–470.
- Biau, D.J., Kern és, S. and Porcher, R. (2008). Statistics in Brief: The Importance of Sample Size in the Planning and Interpretation of Medical Research. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research*, 466(9): 2282–2288.
- Bloomquist, K. (2010). Participation in Positive Youth Development Programs and 4-H: Assessing the Impact on Self-Image in Young People. *Theses, Dissertations, & Student Scholarship: Agricultural Leadership, Education & Communication Department.*
- Bond, L., Butler, H., Thomas, L., Carlin, J., Glover, S., Bowes, G. and Patton, G. (2007). Social and school connectedness in early secondary school as predictors of late teenage substance use, mental health, and academic outcomes. *Journal of adolescent health*, 645-661.
- Boon, H.J. (2007). Low- and high-achieving Australian secondary school students: Their parenting, motivations and academic achievement. *Australian Psychologist*, 212–225.
- Bordens, K.S. and Abbott, B.B. (2011). Research design and methods: A process approach (Eighth Edition). San Francisco: McGraw Hill.
- Bornstein, M.H. (1995). *Handbook of parenting: Volume 1 Children and parenting*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Bowers, E.P., Geldhof, J.G., Johnson, S.K., Lerner, J.V. and Lerner, R.M. (2014). Special Issue Introduction: Thriving Across the Adolescent Years: A View of the Issues. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 43:859–868.
- Bowers, E.P., Li, Y., Kiely, M.K., Brittian, A., Lerner, J.V. and Lerner, R.M. (2010). The Five Cs model of positive youth development: A longitudinal analysis of confirmatory factor structure and measurement invariance. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 720-735.
- Bowers, E.P., von Eye, A., Lerner, J.V., Arbeit, M.R., Weiner, M.B., Chase, P. and Agans, J.P. (2011). The role of ecological assets in positive and problematic developmental trajectories. *Journal of Adolescence*, 34(6),1151–1166.
- Brandtst ädter, J. (2006). Actionperpective on human development. In R. Lerner, & W. Damon, *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. I. Theoretical models of human development* (pp. 516-68). Hoboken, NJ, US: John Wiley & Sons.
- Bridges, L.J. and Moore, K.A. (2002). *Religion and spirituality in childhood and adolescence*. Washington, DC: Child Trends.
- Brislin, R.W. (1970). Back-Translation for Cross-Cultural Research. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*.

- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human developmen: Experiments by nature and design.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Calicchia, J.A. and Graham, L.B. (2006). Assessing the relationship between spirituality, life stressors, and social resources: Buffers of stress in graduate students. *North American Journal of Psychology*, 8(2), 307–320.
- Cameron, A. (2004). Kurtosis. In M. Lewis-Beck, A. Bryman, & T. Liao, *Encyclopedia of social science research methods*. (pp. 544-545). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Cameron, K.S., Dutton, J.E. and Quinn, R.E. (2003). *Foundations of positive organizational scholarship*. San Francisco: Berrett-Koehler Publishers Inc.
- Cappelleri, J.C., Darlington, R.B. and Trochim, W.M.K. (1994). Power analysis of cutoff-based randomized clinical trials. *Evaluation Review*, 18, 141-152.
- Carlos, G., McGinley, M., Hayes Dr., Batenhorst, C. and Wilkinson, J. (2007). Parenting Styles or Practices? Parenting, Sympathy, and Prosocial Behaviors Among Adolescents. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology: Research and Theory on Human Development*, 147-176.
- Catalano, R.F., Berglund, M.L., Ryan, J.A.M., Lonczak, H.S. and Hawkins, J.D. (2004). Positive youth development in the United States: Research findings on evaluations of positive youth development programs. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 98-124.
- Cenkseven-Önder, F. (2012). The influence of decision-making styles on early adolescents' life satisfaction. Social Behavior and Personality. Social Behavior and Personality, 1523–1536.
- Chao, R.K. (2001). Extending research on the consequences of parenting style for Chinese Americans and European Americans. *Child Development*, 72: 1832–1843.
- Chin Siang, A. and Abu Talib, M. (2011). An Investigation of Materialism and Undergraduates' Life Satisfaction. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, 15 (8): 1127-1135.
- Christens, B.D. and Peterson, N.A. (2012). The role of empowerment in youth development: A study of sociopolitical control as mediator of ecological systems' influence on developmental outcomes. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 41 (5),623-635.
- Christensen, L.B., Johnson, R.B. and Turner, L.A. (2010). *Research methods and Design, and Analysis (11th ed.)*. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Ciarrochi, J., Scott, G., Deane, F.P. and Heaven, P.C.L. (2003). Relations between social and emotional competence and mental health: A construct validation study. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 1947–1963.

- Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (2nd ed.). New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Cohen, J. (1992). Quantitative Methods in Psychology A Power Primer. *Psychological Bulletin*, 112, 155-159.
- Colarossi, L.G. (2001). Adolescent gender differences in social support: Structure, function, and provider type. *Social Work Research*, 25(4), 233.
- Coleman, J.S. (1988). Social Capital in the Creation of Human Capital. *American Journal of Sociology*, 94: S95-S120.
- Collins, W.A. and Russell, G. (1991). Mother-child and father-child relationships in middle childhood and adolescence: a developmental analysis. *Developmental Review*, 99-136.
- Collins, W.A. and Steinberg, L. (2006). Adolescent development in interpersonal context. In W. Damon, & N. Eisenberg, *Handbook of child psychology: Vol.* 4. Socioemotional processes (pp. 1003–1067). New York: Wiley.
- Côté, J.E. (2009). Identity formation and self-development in adolescence. In R. Lerner, & L. Steinberg, *Handbook of adolescent psychology*(3rd ed) (pp. 266-304). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Covington, M.V. (1992). Making the grade: A self-worth perspective on motivation and school reform. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. and Rathunde, K. (1998). The development of the person: An experiential perspective on the ontogenesis of psychological complexity. In W. Damon, & R. Lerner, *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 1. Theoretical models of human development (5th ed.)* (pp. 635-684). NY: Wiley.
- Cunningham, N.J., Taylor, M., Whitten, M.E., Hardesty, P.H., Eder, K. and DeLaney, N. (2010). The relationship between self-perception of physical attractiveness and sexual bullying in early adolescence. *Aggressive Behavior*, 36:271–281.
- Damon, W. (2004). What is positive youth development? *American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 13-24.
- Darling, N. (1999). Parenting style and its correlates. ERIC Digest, EDO-PS-99-3. .
- Darling, N. and Steinberg, L. (1993). Parenting style as context: An integrative model. *Psychol Bull*, 487-96.
- Darling, N. and Toyokawa, T. (1997). Construction and validation of the Parenting Style Inventory II (PSI–II). *Unpublished manuscript*, he Pennsylvania State University.
- Darling, N., Cumsille, P. and Peña-Alampay, L. (2005). Rules, legitimacy of parental authority, and adolescent autonomy in Chile, the Philippines, and the United States. *New Directions in Child and Adolescent Development*, 108, 47–60.

- Davis, M. (1980). A multidimensional approach to individual differences in empathy. . *Catalog of Selected Documents in Psychology*, 10(4), 1-17.
- Department of Social Welfare. (2013). *Laporan statistik 2011*. Retrieved from Retrieved from http://www.jkm.gov.my/
- Department of Statistics. (2011). Statistics Yearbook Malaysia, 2011. Malaysia: Department of Statistics.
- Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2010). *Population Distribution and Basic Demographic Characteristic Report* 2010. Retrieved from http://www.statistics.gov.my/portal/index.php?lang=en.
- Department of Statistics, Malaysia. (2013). *Statistical Handbook Malaysia*. Retrieved from http://www.statistics.gov.my/
- Diener, E., Emmons, R.A., Larsen, R.J. and Griffin, S. (1985). The Satisfaction with Life Scale. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 49, 71-75.
- Diener, E., Suh, E.M., Lucas, R.E. and Smith, H.L. (1999). Subjective well-being three decades of progress. *Psychological Bulletin*, 276–302.
- Diyanah, A. (2010, October 23). *Routine youth boredom, sadness.* Retrieved from Daily News: my/bharian/articles /Rutinbeliabosan_sedih_/Article/ (Bahasa Malaysia)
- Donnellan, M.B., Trzesniewski, K.H., Robins, R.W., Moffitt, T.E. and Caspi, A. (2005). Low self-esteem is related to aggression, antisocial behavior, and delinquency. *Psychological Science*, 328–335.
- Dornbusch, S., Ritter, P., Leiderman, P.H., Roberts, D. and Fraleigh, M. (1987). The relation of parenting style to adolescent school performance. *Child Development*, 58, 1244-1257.
- Dorsten, L.E. and Hotchkiss, L. (2005). *Research methods and society : foundations of social inquiry*. NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Dowling, E.M., Gestsdottir, S., Anderson, P.M., von Eye, A. and Lerner, R.M. (2003). Spirituality, religiosity, and thriving among adolescents: Identification and confirmation of factor structures. *Applied Developmental Science*, 7(4), 253–260.
- Dowling, E.M., Gestsdottir, S., Anderson, P.M., von Eye, A., Almerigi, J. and Lerner, R.M. (2004). Structural relations among spirituality, religiosity, and thriving in adolescence. *Applied Developmental Science*, 8(1), 7–16.
- DuBois, D.L. and Silverthorn, N. (2005). Natural Mentoring Relationships and Adolescent Health: Evidence From a National Study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(3), 518–524.
- Dumont, M. and Provost, A.M. (1999). Resilience in adolescents: Protective role of social support, coping strategies, self-esteem, and social activities on

- experience of stress and depression. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 343-359.
- Durlak, J.A. (1998). Common risk and protective factors in successful prevention programs. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 68, 512-520.
- Durlak, J.A., Taylor, R.D., Kawashima, K., Pachan, M.K., DuPre, E.P., Celio, C.I., Berger, S.R., Dymnicki, A.B. and Weissberg, R.P. (2007). Effects of positive youth development programs on school, family, and community systems. *Am J Community Psychol*, 39:269–286.
- Echeverria, S.E., Diez-Roux, A.V., Shea, S., Borrell, L.N. and Jackson. S. (2008). Associations of neighborhood problems and neighborhood social cohesion with mental health and health behaviors: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Health & Place*, 139-1541.
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R.A., Murphy, B. C., Karbon, M., Smith, M. and Maszk, P. (1996). The relations of children's dispositional empathy-related responding to their emotionality, regulation, and social functioning. *Developmental Psychology*, 32, 195-209.
- Elbert, C.D. and Alston, A.J. (2005). An evaluate study of the United States Cooperative Extension Service's role in bridging the digital divide. *Journal of Extension[On-line]*, http://www.joe.org/joe/2005october/rb1.php.
- Engels, R.C.M.E., Kerr, M. and Stattin, H. (2007). Friends, Lovers and Groups: Key Relationships in Adolescence. Chichester, West Sussex: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.
- Erikson, E.H. (1959). Identity and the life-cycle. *Psychological Issues*, 1, 18–164.
- Erikson, E.H. (1968). *Identity: Youth and crisis*. New York: W W. Norton.
- Evans, A.N. and Rooney, B.J. (2008). *Methods in Psychological Research*. SAGE Publications.
- Faeh, D., Viswanathan, B., Chiolero, A., Warren, W. and Bovet, P. (2006). Clustering of smoking, alcohol drinking and cannabis use in adolescents in a rapidly developing country. *BMC Public Health*, doi:10.1186/1471-2458-6-169.
- Faizah, Y. (2007). Youth employment and employability in Malaysia. Malaysia: Malaysia Youth Report.
- Featherman, D.L. and Hauser, M.R. (1978). *Opportunity and Change*. New York: Academic Press.
- Fergusson, D.M., Horwood, L.J. and Swaim-Campbell, N. (2002). Deviant peer affiliations, crime, and substance use: A fixed-effects regression analysis. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 419–430.

- Fogle, L.M., Huebner, E.S. and Laughlin, J.E. (2002). The relationship between temperament and life satisfaction in early adolescence: Cognitive and behavioral mediation models. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 3, 373–392.
- Freud, A. (1969). Adolescence as a developmental disturbance. In G. L. Caplan, *Adolescence: Psychosocial perspectives* (pp. 5–10). New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Furr, R.M. and Funder, D.C. (1998). A multimodal analysis of personal negativity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 74, 1580-1591.
- Furrow, J.L., King, P.E. and White, K. (2010). Religion and Positive Youth Development: Identity, Meaning, and Prosocial Concerns. *Applied Developmental Science*, 17-26.
- Garcia-Reid, P., Reid, R. and Peterson, N.A. (2005). School engagement among Latino youth in an urban middle school context: Valuing the role of social support. *Education and Urban Society*, 37(3), 257–275.
- Garner, D.M., Olmstead, M.P. and Polivy, J. (1983). Development and validation of a multidimensional eating disorder inventory for anorexia nervosa and bulimia. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 2(2), 15-34.
- Geldhof, G.J., Bowers, E.P., Boyd, M.J., Mueller, M.K., Napolitano, C.M., Schmid, K.L., Lerner, J.V. and Lerner, R.M. (2014). The creation and validation of short and very short measures of PYD. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 163-176.
- George, D. and Mallery, P. (2003). SPSS for windows step by step: A sample Guide & reference 11.0 update (4th ed.). Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Gestsdottir, S., Bowers, E., von Eye, A., Napolitano, C.M. and Lerner, R.M. (2010). Intentional self regulation in middle adolescence: The emerging role of loss-based selection in positive youth development. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 764-782.
- Ghani, S.A., Zamani, Z.A., Rahman, R.M.A., Zainal, A.H. and Sulaiman, W.S.W. (2008). Family functioning and its relation with self-esteem among drug addicts. *Jurnal Antidadah Malaysia*, 3,91–106.
- Ghazali, S. (2000). Managing land for housing: A study in peri-urban villages in Penang, Malaysia. *Malaysian Journal of Tropical Geography*, 31 (1 & 2), 75–85.
- Gilman, R. and Huebner, E.S. (2003). A review of life satisfaction research with children and adolescents. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 18, 192-205.
- Glick, G.C. and Rose, A.J. (2011). Prospective associations between friendship adjustment and social strategies: Friendship as a context for building social skills. *Developmental Psychology*, 47, 1117-1132.

- Gloppen, K.M., David-Ferdon, C. and Bates, J. (2010). Confidence as a Predictor of Sexual and Reproductive Health Outcomes for Youth. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, doi: 10.1016/j.
- Graziano, A.M. and Raulin, M.L. (2013). Research Methods: A Process of Inquiry (8th Edition). Boston: Pearson.
- Grusec, J.E. (2002). Parenting socialization and children's acquisition of values. In M. Bornstein, *Handbook of Parenting: Vol. 5: Practical Issues in Parenting* (pp. 143–167). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Hair, J.F. Jr., Anderson, R.E., Tatham, R.L. and Black, W.C. . (1995). *Multivariate Data Analysis (3rd ed)*. New York: Macmillan.
- Hall, G.S. (1904). Adolescence: its psychology and its relations to physiology, anthropology, sociology, sex, crime, religion and education. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Pretice-Hall.
- Hamilton, S.F., Hamilton, M.A. and Pittman, K. (2004). Principles for youth development. In S. Hamilton, & M. Hamilton, The youth development handbook: Coming of age in American communities (pp. 3-23). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Hamzah, A. (2007). *Situation of girls and young women in Malaysia*. Kuala Lumpur: Ministry of Youth and Sport.: In Malaysian youth report, 2007.
- Harkness, J.A. and Schoua-Glusberg, A. (1998). Questionnaires in Translation. *ZUMA-Nachrichten Spezial*, 87-126.
- Harter, S. (1982). The Perceived Competence Scale for Children. *Journal of Child Development*, 87-98.
- Harter, S. (1983). Supplementary description of the Self-Perception Profile for Children: Revision of the Perceived Competence Scale for Children. *Unpublished manuscript*. University of Denver.
- Harter, S. (1986). *Manual for the Self-Perception Profile for Adolescents*. Denver, CO: University of Denver.
- Harter, S. (1988). Developmental processes in the construction of the self. In T. Yawkey, & J. Johnson, *Integrative Processes and Socialization: Early to middle school* (pp. 45-76). New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Harter, S. (1998). The development of self-representation. In W. Damon, & N. Eisenberg, *Handbook of child psychology: Social, emotional and personality development (5th ed)* (pp. 553-617). New York: Wiley.
- Hashim, I.H.M. (2007). Stress, coping and social supports in the adolescent years. *Kajian Malaysia*, 25, 97–115.
- Heck, K.E. and Subramaniam, A. (2009). *Youth development Frameworks*. CA: University of California.

- Hein, K. (2003). Enhancing the assets for positive youth development: The vision values, action agenda of the W.T. Grant Foundation. In R. M. Lerner, & P. L. Benson, *Developmental assets and asset-building communities: Implications for research, policy, and practice* (pp. 97-117). Norwell, MA: Kluwer.
- Hershberg, R., DeSousa, L., Warren, A.E.A., Lerner, J.V. and Lerner, R.M. (2014). Illuminating trajectories of adolescent thriving and contribution through the words of youth: Qualitative findings from the 4-h study of positive youth development. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 50-68.
- High, R. (2000). Important factors in designing statistical power analysis studies. *Computing News, Summer issue*, 14-15.
- House, L.D., Mueller, T.M., Reininger, B., Brown, K. and Markham, C.M. (2010). Character as a Predictor of Reproductive Health Outcomes for Youth: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, doi: 10.1016/j.
- Howard, K.A.S., Budge, S.L. and McKay, K.M. (2010). Youth exposed to violence: the role of protective factors. *Journal of community psychology*, 38(1), 63-79.
- Huber, E. and Stephens, J.D. . (1993). Political Parties and Public Pensions: A Quantitative Analysis. *Acta Sociologica*, 36, 309-325.
- Huebner, E.S. (1991). Correlates of life satisfaction in children. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 103–111.
- Huebner, E.S. (1997). Life satisfaction and happiness. In G. Bear, K. Minke, & A. Thomas (Eds.), *Children's needs II* (pp. 271-278). Silver Spring, MD: National Association of School Psychologists.
- Hughes, J.N. and Zhang, D. (2007). Effects of the structure of classmates' perceptions of peers'academic abilities on children's perceived cognitive competence, peer acceptance, and engagement. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 32 (3), 400–419.
- James, A.G., Fine, M.A. and Turner, L.J. (2012). An empirical examination of youth's perception of spirituality as an internal developmental asset during adolescence. *Applied Developmental Science*, 181-194.
- Jelas, Z.M., Salleh, A., Mahmud, I., Azman, N., Hamzah, H., Hamid, Z.A., Jani, R. and Hamzah, R. (2014). Gender Disparity in School Participation and Achievement: The Case in Malaysia. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 62-68.
- Jelicic, H., Bobek, D.L., Phelps, E., Lerner, J.V. and Lerner, R.M. (2007). Using positive youth development to predict contribution and risk behaviors in early adolescence: Findings from the first two waves of The 4-H Study of Positive Youth Development. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 263-273.

- Johnston, L.D., O'Malley, P.M., Bachman, J.G. and Schulenberg, J.E. (2011). Monitoring the Future national survey results on drug use, 1975–2010 Volume 1: Secondary school students. Michigan: The University of Michigan.
- Jones, M.I., Dunn, J.G.H., Holt, N. L., Sullivan, P.J. and Bloom, G.A. (2011). Exploring the '5Cs' of positive youth development in sport. *Journal of Sport Behavior*, 34, 250-267.
- Joseph, C. (2006). Negotiating discourses of gender, ethnicity and schooling: ways of being Malay, Chinese, and Indian schoolgirls in Malaysia. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society*, 35-53.
- Kaufmann, D., Gesten, E., Lucia, R.C.S., Salcedo, O., Rendina-Gobioff, G. and Gadd, R. (2000). The relationship between parenting style and children's adjustment: The parents' perspective. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 231–245.
- Keshavarz, S. and Baharudin, R. (2009). Parenting style in a collectivist culture of Malaysia. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, 66–73.
- Kim, H.S. and Kim, H.S. (2008). Risks factors for suicide attempts among Korean adolescents. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 221–235.
- Kim, S. and Esquivel, G.B. (2011). Adolescent spirituality and resilience: Theory, research, and educational practices. *Psychol. Schs*, 48: 755–765.
- King, K.M., Meehan, B.T., Trim, R.S. and Chassin, L. (2006). Marker or mediator? The effects of adolescent substance use on young adult educational attainment. *US National Library of Medicine National Institutes of Health*, 1730-1740.
- Krauss, S.E., Hamzah, A.H., Ismail, I.A., Suandi, T., Hamzah, S.R., Dahalan, D. and Idris, F. (2012). Parenting, community and religious predictors of positive and negative developmental outcomes among Muslim adolescents. *Youth & Society*.
- Krejcie, R.V. and Morgan, D.W. (1970). Determining sample size for research activities. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 30, 607-610.
- Lakin, R. and Mahoney, A. (2006). Empowering youth to change their world: Identifying key components of a community service program to promote positive development. *Journal of School Psychology*, 513-531.
- Larson, R. (2006). Positive youth development, willful adolescents, and mentoring . *Journal of community psychology*, 677-689.
- Larson, R.W., Wilson, S. and Rickman, A. (2009). Globalization, societal change, and adolescence across the world. In R. Lerner, & L. Steinberg (Eds.), *Handbook of Adolescent Psychology (Third Edition)* (pp. 590-622). New York: Psychology Press.

- Laukkanen, E., Shemeikka, S., Viinamaki, H., Polkki, P. and Lehtonen, J. (2001). Heavy drinking isassociated with more severe psychosocial dysfunction among than boys in Finland. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 28(4):270-277.
- Lee, L.K., Chen, P.C., Lee, K.K. and Kaur, J. (2006). Premarital sexual intercourse among adolescents in Malaysia: a cross-sectional Malaysian school survey. Singapore medical journal, 47: 869-874.
- Leffert, N., Benson, P.L., Scales, P.C., Sharma, A.R., Drake, D.R. and Blyth, D.A. (1998). Developmental assets: Measurement and prediction of risk behaviors among adolescents. *Applied Developmental Science*, 2(4), 209-230.
- Lerner, J.V., Phelps, E., Forman, Y. and Bowers, E.P. (2009). Positive youth development. In R. Lerner, & L. Steinberg (Eds.), *Handbook of adolescent psychology, Vol 1: Individual bases of adolescent development (3rd ed.)* (pp. 524-558). Hoboken, NJ US: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Lerner, R.M., Roeser, R.W. and Phelps, E. (Eds.). (2008). Positive youth development and spirituality: From theory to research. West Conshohocken, PA: Templeton Foundation Press.
- Lerner, R.M. (2002). Concepts and theories of human development (3rd ed.). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Lerner, R.M. (2004). Diversity in individual context relations as the basis for positive development across the life span: A developmental systems perspective for theory, research, and application. *Research in Human Development*, 1(4), 327-346.
- Lerner, R.M. and Steinberg, L. (2009). *Handbook of Adolescent Psychology, Contextual Influences on Adolescent Development.* Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons.
- Lerner, R.M., Alberts, A.E., Anderson, P.M. and Dowling, E.M. (2006a). On making humans human: Spirituality and the promotion of positive youth development. In E. Roehlkepartain, P. King, L. Wagener, & P. Benson, *Handbook of spiritual development in childhood and adolescence* (pp. 60-72). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Lerner, R.M., Bornstein, M.H. and Smith, C. (2003). Child well-being: From elements to integrations. In M. H. Bornstein, L. Davidson, C. M. Keyes, K. Moore, & the Center for Child Well-Being (Eds.), *Well-being: Positive development across the life course* (pp. 501–523). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Lerner, R.M., Dowling, E.M. and Anderson, P.M. (2003). Positive youth development: Thriving as a basis of personhood and civil society. *Applied Developmental Science*, 172-180.
- Lerner, R.M., Lerner, J.V., Almerigi, J., Theokas, C., Phelps, E., Gestsdöttir, S., Naudeau, S., Jelicic, H., Alberts, A.E., Ma, L., Smith, L.M., Bobek, D.L., Richman-Raphael, D., Simpson, I., Christiansen, E.D. and von Eye, A. (2005). Positive youth development, participation in community youth development

- programs, and community contributions of fifth Grade adolescents: Findings from the first wave of the 4-H Study of Positive Youth Development. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 17-71.
- Lerner, R.M., Lerner, J.V., Almerigi, J., Theokas, C., Phelps, E., Naudeau, S., Gestsdóttir, S., Ma, L., Jelicic, H.,. Alberts, A., Smith, L., Simpson, I., Christiansen, E., Warren, D. and von Eye, A. (2006b). Toward a new vision and vocabulary about adolescence: Theoretical, empirical, and applied bases of a "positive youth development". In L. Balter, & C. Tamis-LeMonda (Eds.), Child Psychology: A handbook of contemporary issues (pp. 445-469). New York: Psychology Press/Taylor & Francis.
- Lerner, R.M., von Eye, A., Lerner, J.V., Lewin-Bizan, S. and Bowers, E.P. (2010). Special issue introduction: The meaning and measurement of thriving: A view of the issues. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 707-719.
- Lester, B.M., Masten, A. and McEwen, B. (2007). Resilience in children. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences (Vol. 1094). New York: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Leung, K., Lau, S. and Lam, W.L. (1998). Parenting styles and academic achievement: A crosscultural study. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 157–172.
- Levin, J. (2009). Obesity and self-image. New York, NY: Rosen Central.
- Lewin-Bizan, S., Bowers, E. and Lerner, R.M. (2010). One good thing leads to another: Cascades of positive youth development among American adolescents. *Development and Psychopathology*, doi: 10.1017/S0954579410000441.
- Lewinsohn, P., Redner, J. and Seeley, J. (1991). The relationship between life satisfaction and psychosocial variables: New perspectives. In F. Strack, M. Argyle, & N. Schwarz, *Subjective well-being: An interdisplinary perspective* (pp. 141-172). Oxford: Pergamon.
- Li, Y., Lerner, J.V. and Lerner, R.M. (2010). Personal and ecological assets and academic competence in early adolescence: The mediating role of school engagement. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 801–815.
- Little, R.R. (1993). What's working for today's youth: The issues, the programs, and the learnings. *ICYF Fellows Colloquium*. MI: Michigan State University.
- Lutz, A., Slagter, H., Rawling, N., Francis, A., Greischar, L.L. and Davidson, R.J. (2009). Mental training enhances attentional stability: Neural and behavioral evidence. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29(42), 13418-13427.
- Maccoby, E. and Martin, J. (1983). Socialization in the context of the family: Parent-child interaction. In E. M. Hetherington (Ed.), & P. H. Mussen (Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 4. Socialization, personality, and social development* (pp. 1–101). New York: Wiley.
- Mahoney, J.L., Vandell, D.L., Simpkins, S. and Zarrett, N. (2009). Adolescent out-of school activities. In R. Lerner (Eds.), & L. Steinberg, *Handbook of adolescent psychology: Vol. 2 (3rd ed.)* (pp. 228 267). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.

- Malhotra, N.K. (2004). *Marketing Research: An Applied Orientation (4th ed)*. New Jersey: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Markham, C.M., Lormand, D., Gloppen, K.M., Peskin, M.F., Flores, B., Low, B. and House, L.D. (2010). Connectedness as a predictor of sexual and reproductive health outcomes for youth. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 23-41.
- Mat Hussin, S.F., Abd Aziz, N.S., Hasim H. and Sahril, N. (2014). Prevalence and factors associated with physical fighting among Malaysian adolescents. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health*.
- McGee, T.G. (1989). Urbanisasi or kotadesasi? Evolving patterns of urbanization in Asia. In F. Costa, A. Dutt, L. Ma, & A. Noble, *Urbanization in Asia: Spatial dimensions and policy issues* (pp. 93–108). Honalulu: University of Hawaii Press.
- Menard, S. (1995). Applied Logistic Regression Analysis: Sage University Series on Quantitative Applications in the Social Sciences. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mey, S.C. (2010). Psychological profile of adolescents in Malaysia. *The International Journal of Educational and Psychological Assessment*, 4, 77–96.
- Meyers, J. and Meyers, B. (2003). Bi-directional influences between positive psychology and primary prevention. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 222–229.
- Miller, N.B., Cowan, P.A., Cowan, C.P. and Hetherington, E.M. (1993). Externalizing in preschoolers and early adolescents: A cross-study replication of a family model. *Developmental Psychology*, 29(1), 3-18.
- Ministry of Education Malaysia. (2011). Senarai Sekolah Menengah Di Selangor Seperti Pada 31 January 2011. Retrieved from http://emisportal.moe.gov.my/emis/emis2/emisportal2/doc/fckeditor/File/senar ai_sekolah_jan2011/menengah/SelangorM.pdf
- MoE [Ministry of Education, Malaysia]. (2007). Kertas kerja aktiviti rancangan integrasi murid untuk perpaduan [Student integration for unity activity planning, working paper]. Putrajaya: MoE.
- Mohamad, M., Mohammad, M., Mamat, I. and Mamat, M. (2014). Modelling Positive Development, Life Satisfaction and Problem Behaviour among Youths in Malaysia. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, 32 (2): 231-238.
- Mohamad, M., Mohammad. M. and Mat Ali, N.A. (2014). Positive Youth Development and Life Satisfaction among Youths. *Journal of Applied Sciences*, 14: 2782-2792.
- Mohamed, M.Z., Marican, S., Elias, N. and Don, Y. (2008). Pattern of substance and drug misuseamong youth in Malaysia. *Jurnal Antidadah Malaysia*, 3, 1–56.
- Mohan, J., Sehgal, M., and Tripathi, A. (2007). A study of adolescents' spiritual wellbeing in relation to their emotions. Department of Psychology, Punjab University, Chandigarh.

- Moore, J.B., Jilcott, S.B., Shores, K.A., Evenson, K.R., Brownson, R.C. and Novick, L.F. (2010). Qualitative examination of perceived barriers and facilitators of physical activity for urban and rural youth. *Health Education Research*, 355-367.
- Mouttapa, M., Weiss, J.W. and Hermann, M. (2009). Is image everything? The role of self-image in the relationship between family functioning and substance use among Hispanic adolescents [Electronic version]. *Substance Use and Misuse*, 44(5). 702-721.
- Mueller, T., Gavin, L., Oman, R., Vesely, S., Aspy, C., Tolma, E. and Rodine, S. (2010). Youth assets and sexual risk behavior: Differences between male and female adolescents. *Health Education and Behavior*, 343-356.
- Murphy, K.R. and Davidshofer, C.O. (2005). *Psychological Testing: Principles and Applications* (6th Ed). Boston: Pearson.
- Napolitano, C.M. (2010). Context and adolescent intentional self regulation: testing the positive youth development model. published master's thesis, Tufts University.
- Nash, S.G., McQueen, A. and Bray, J.H. (2005). Pathways to adolescent alcohol use: Family environment, peer influence, and parental expectations. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 19–28.
- Nasir, R., Zamani, Z.A., Khairudin, R. and Wan Shahrazad, W.S. (2011). Family functioning, self-esteem, self-concept and cognitive distortion among juvenile delinquents. *The Social Sciences*, 6, 155–163.
- National Research Council, & Institute of Medicine. (2002). Features of positive developmental settings. In J. Eccles, & J. Gootman (Eds.), *Community programs to promote youth development* (pp. 86-120). Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Neto, F. and Barros, J. (2007). Satisfaction with life among adolescents from Portuguese immigrant families in Switzerland. Swiss Journal of Psychology, 215–223.
- Networks for Youth Development. (1998). *The handbook of positive youth outcomes*. NewYork: The Fund for the City of NewYork.
- Newcomb, A.F. and Bagwell, C.L. (1995). Children's friendship relations: A meta-analstic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 306-347.
- Newcomb, M.D., Bentler, P.M. and Collins, C. (1986). Alcohol use and dissatisfaction with self and life: A longitudinal analysis of young adults. *Journal of Drug Issues*, 479–494.
- Nijhof, K.S. and Engels, R.C.M.E. (2007). Parenting styles, coping strategies, and the expression of homesickness. *Journal of Adolescence*, 709–720.

- Offer, D., Ostrow, E. and Howard, K.I. (1981). *The adolescent: a pyschological self-potrait*. New York: Basic Books.
- Oman, R.F., Vesely, S., Aspy, C.B., McLeroy, K.R., Rodine, S. and Marshall, L. (2004). The potential protective effect of youth assets on adolescent alcohol and drug use. *American Journal of Public Health*, 1425–1430.
- Overton, W.F. (2006). Developmental psychology: Philosophy, concepts, methodology. In R. Lerner, & W. Damon (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 1. Theoretical models of human development* (pp. 18–88). NJ: Wiley.
- Pargament, K.I. (1999). The psychology of religion and spirituality? Yes and no. *International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 9, 3–16.
- Park, H.S. and Bauer, S. (2002). Parenting practices, ethnicity, socioeconomic status and academic achievement in adolescents. *School Psychology International*, 386–396.
- Park, N. (2004). "The role of subjective well-being in positive youth development". American Academy of Political and Social Science.
- Park, N. and Peterson, C. (2008). Positive psychology and character strengths: Its application for strength-based school counseling. *Journal of Professional School counseling*, 85-92.
- Patel, M., Doku, V. and Tennakoon, L. (2003). Challenges in recruitment of research participants. *Advances in Psychiatric Treatment.*, 229-238.
- Pavot, W. and Diener, E. (1993). The affective and cognitive context of self-reported measures of subjective well-being. *Social Indicators Research*, 28, 1–20.
- Payne, A.A., Gottfredson, D.C. and Gottfredson, G.D. (2003). Schools as communities: The relationships among communal school organization, student bonding, and school disorde. *Criminology*, 41(3), 749–777.
- Pengpid, S. and Peltzer, K. (2013). Prevalence and psychosocial correlates of illicit drug use among school-going adolescent in Thailand. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 34:269-275.
- Petersen, A.C., Schulenberg, J.E., Abramowitz, R.H., Offer, D. and Jarcho, H.D. (1984). A self-image questionnaire for young adolescents (SIQYA): Reliability and validity studies. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 93-111.
- Phelps, E., Balsano, A., Fay, K., Peltz, J., Zimmerman, S., Lerner, R.M. and Lerner J.V. (2007). Nuances in early adolescent development trajectories of positive and problematic/risk behaviors: Findings from the 4-H Study of Positive Youth Development. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 473–496.
- Phelps, E., Zimmerman, S., Warren, A.E.A., Jeličić, H., von Eye, A. and Lerner, R.M. (2009). The structure and developmental course of positive youth

- development (PYD) in early adolescence: Implications for theory and practice. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 571–584.
- Phillips, C.D. and McLeroy, K.R. (2004). Health in rural America: Remembering the importance of place. Editorial. *American Journal of Public Health*, 1661-1663.
- Phillips, R.G. and Hill, A.J. (1998). Fat, plain, but not friendless:self-esteem and peer acceptance of obese pre-adolescent girls. *International Journal of Obesity*, 22, 287–293.
- Pon, L.W., Mirnalini, K. and Mohd Nasir, M.T. (2004). Body image perception, dietary practices and physical activity of overweight and normal weight Malaysian female adolescents. *Malaysia Journal of Nutrition*, 10, 131–147.
- Portney, L.G. and Watkins, M.P. (2000). Foundations of clinical research: Applications to practice (2nd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Proctor, C., Linley, P.A. and Maltby, J. (2009). Youth Life Satisfaction measures: A Review. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, 128-144.
- Quick Facts. (2013). *Malaysia Educational Statistics*. Ministry of Education Malaysia, http://emisportal.moe.gov.my/.
- Quinn, J. (1999). Where need meets opportunity: Youth development programs for early teens. *The Future of Children*, 96–116.
- Rathus, S.A. (2011). *childhood and adolescence: Voyages in Development (4th ed)*. CA, USA: Wadsworth.
- Rebecca, P.A. (2006). Effects of parenting style on personal and social variables for Asian adolescents. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 503–511.
- Reich, K.H. (1996). A logic-based typology of science and theology. *Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, 8(1-2), 149-167.
- Richards, G. (2008). Psychology: the key concepts. New York: Taylor & Francis.
- Rigg, J. (1997). Southeast Asia: The human landscape of modernization and development. London: Routledge.
- Ritt-Olson, A., Milam, J., Unger, J.B., Trinidad, D., Teran, L., Dent, C.W. and Sussman, S. (2004). The protective influence of spirituality and "Health-as-a-Value" against monthly substance use among adolescents varying in risk. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 192 - 199.
- Rivera, F.I., Guarnaccia, P.J., Mulvaney-Day, N., Lin, J.Y., Torres, M. and Alegr á, M. (2008). Family cohesion and its relationship to psychological distress among Latino groups. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 30(3), 357-378.

- Rodriguez, D. and Audrain-McGovern, J. (2005). Physical activity, global physical self-concept and adolescent smoking. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*., 30(3):251-259.
- Rodriguez, N., Mira, C.B., Myers, H.F., Morris, J.K. and Cardoza, D. (2003). Family or friends: Who plays a greater supportive role for Latino college students? *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 9, 236-250.
- Roth, J. L. and Brooks-Gunn, J. (2003a). What is a youth development program? Identification and defining principles. In F. Jacobs, D. Wertlieb, & R. M. Lerner (Eds.), Promoting positive child adolescent, and family development: A handbook of program and policy innovations: Vol. 2. Enhancing the life chances of youth and families: Contributions of programs, policies and service systems (pp. 197-223). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Roth, J.L. and Brooks-Gunn, J. (2000). What do adolescents need for healthy development? Implications for youth policy. Michigan: The Society for Research in Child Development.
- Saari, M.Y., Dietzenbacher, E. and Los, B. (2014). Income Distribution across Ethnic Groups in Malaysia: Results from a New Social Accounting Matrix. *Asian Economic Journal*, 28: 259–278.
- Sampson, R.J., Morenoff, J.D. and Raudenbush, S.W. (2005). Social anatomy of racial and ethnic disparities in violence. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(2), 224-232.
- Santrock, J. W. (2008). *Life span development: a topical approach to lifespan development*. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Scales, P., Benson, P., Leffert, N. and Blyth, D.A. (2000). The contribution of developmental assets to the prediction of thriving among adolescents. *Applied Developmental Science*, 27-46.
- Scales, P.C. (2007, February). Spirituality and adolescent well-being: selected new statistics (Fast Fact). Retrieved Nov 1, 2012, from www.searchinstitute.org/csd/articles/fast-facts/selected-statistics.
- Scales, P.C. (2011). Youth Developmental Assets in Global Perspective: Results from International Adaptations of the Developmental Assets Profile. Springer Science+Business Media B.V.
- Scales, P.C. and Leffert, N. (2004). Developmental assets: A synthesis of the scientific research on dolescent development (2nd ed.). Minnepolis, MN: Search Institute.
- Scales, P.C., Sesma, A., Jr. and Bolstrom, B. (2004). Coming into their own: How developmental assets promote positive growth during middle childhood. Minneapolis: Search Institute.

- Schlegel, A. (2009). Cross-cultural issues in the study of adolescent development. In R. M. Lerner, & L. Steinberg (Eds.), *Handbook of adolescent psychology (3rd ed.)*. New York: Wiley.
- Schmid, B., Hohm, E., Blomeyer, D., Zimmermann, U.S., Schmidt, M.H., Esser, G. and Laucht, M. (2007). Concurrent alcohol and tobacco use during early adolescence characterizes a group at risk. *Alcohol Alcoho*, 219-225.
- Schmid, K.L., Phelps, E., Kiely, M.K., Napolitano, C.M., Boyd, M.J. and Lerner, R.M. (2011). The role of adolescents' hopeful futures in predicting positive and negative developmental trajectories: Findings from the 4-H Study of Positive Youth Development. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 45–56.
- Schmitt, N. (1996). Uses and abuses of coefficient alpha. *Psychological Assessment*, 8, 350–353.
- Schneirla, T.C. (1957). The concept of development in comparative psychology. In D. B. Harris (Ed.), *The concept of development: An issue in the study of human behavior* (pp. 78–108). Minneapolis, MN: University of Minnesota Press.
- Schwartz S.J., Pantin, H., Coatsworth, J. and Szapocznik, J. (2007). Addressing the challenges and opportunities for today's youth: Toward an integrative model and its implications for research and intervention. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 28(2), 117-144.
- Schwartz, S.J., Phelps, E., Lerner, J.V., Huang, S., Brown, C.H., Lewin-Bizan, S., Li, Y. and Lerner, R.M. (2010). Promotion as prevention: Positive Youth Development as protective against tobacco, alcohol, illicit drug, and sex initiation. *Applied Developmental Science*, 197–211.
- Seiffge-Krenke, I., Aunola, K. and Nurmi, J-E. (2009). Changes in stress preception and coping during adolescence: the role of situational and personal factors. *child development*, 80 (1), 259-279.
- Seligman, M.E.P. and Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive psychology: An introduction. *American Psychologist*, 5-14.
- Shek, D.T.L. (2007). Tackling adolescent substance abuse in Hong Kong: Where we should go and should not go. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2021–2030.
- Shek, D.T.L. (2010). Introduction: Quality of life of Chinese people in a changing world. *Social Indicators Research*, 357–361.
- Shek, D.T.L. (2012). Spirituality as a Positive Youth Development Construct: A Conceptual Review. *The Scientific World Journal*.
- Shek, D.T.L. and Liu, T.T. (2013). Life Satisfaction in Junior Secondary School Students in Hong Kong: A 3-Year Longitudinal Study. *Soc Indic Res*, 117:777–794.
- Shek, D.T.L. and Ma, H.K. (2010). Editorial: Evaluation of the project P.A.T.H.S. in Hong Kong: Are the fi ndings replicable across different populations? The

- Scientifi c World Journal: TSW. Child Health & Human Development, 178–181.
- Shek, D.T.L. and Wu, F.K.Y. (2014). Positive Youth Development in Junior Secondary School Students: Do Gender and Time Matter? *Springer Science+Business Media Singapore*. D.T.L. Shek et al. (eds.), Chinese Adolescents in Hong Kong, Quality of Life in Asia 5, DOI 10.1007/978-981-287-143-5_3.
- Shek, D.T.L., Chan, Y.K. and Lee, P.S.N. (2005). Quality of life in the global context: A Chinese response. *Social Indicators Research*, 71(1), 1–10.
- Sheldon, K.M. and King, L. (2001). Why positive psychology is necessary. *American Psychologist*, 216-217.
- Shin, D.C. and Johnson, D.M. (1978). Avowed Happiness as the Overall Assessment of the Quality of Life. *Social Indicators Research*, 475-492.
- Sifers, S.K., Puddy, R.W., Warren, J.S. and Roberts, M.C. (2002). Reporting of demographics, methodology, and ethical procedures in journals in pediatric and child psychology. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 19-25.
- Siti Nor, Y., Wong, F.P., Rozumah, B., Mariani, M., Rumaya, J. and Mansor, A.T. (2010). Factors related to sexual knowledge among Malaysian adolescents. *Journal Kemanusiaan*, 16, 21 – 32.
- Small, S.A. and Rodgers, K.B. (1995). *Teen Assessment Project (TAP) Survey Question Bank.* Madison: University of Wisconsin-Madison.
- Smith, C.A. (1997). Adolescent sexual risk behavior: a multi-system perspective. *Social Work*, 334–346.
- Smith, J.P. and Thomas, D. (1998). On the road: Marriage and mobility in Malaysia. *Journal of Human Resources*, 805-832.
- Smolak, L. and Levine, M.P. (2001). Body image in children. In J. Thompson, & L. Smolak (Eds.), Body image, eating disorders, and obesity in youth: Assessment, prevention, and treatment (pp. 41–66). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Snyder, C.R. and Lopez, S. (eds.). (2002). *Handbook of positive psychology*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Sobolewski, J.M. and Amato, P.R. (2005). Economic Hardship in the Family of Origin During Childhood and Psychological Well-Being in Adulthood. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 141-156.
- Sorkhabi, N. (2005). Applicability of Baumrind's parent typology to collective cultures: Analysis of cultural explanations of parent socialization effects. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 552–563.

- Stauffacher, K. and DeHart, G.B. (2006). Crossing social contexts: Relational aggression between siblings and friends during early and middle childhood. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 228-240.
- Steinberg, L. (2010). Adolescence (9th ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Suldo, S.M. and Huebner, E.S. (2004). Does life satisfaction moderate the effects of stressful events on psychopathological behaviour during adolescence? *School Psychology Quarterly*, 19, 93–105.
- Suldo, S.M. and Huebner, E.S. (2006). Is extremely high life satisfaction during adolescence advantageous? *Social Indicators Research*, 179–203.
- Sun, R.C. and Hui, E.K. (2007). Building social support for adolescents with suicidal ideation: Implications for School Guidance and Counseling. *British Journal of Guidance & Counseling*, 299-316.
- Sun, R.C.F. and Shek, D.T.L. (2009). Life Satisfaction, Positive Youth Development, and Problem Behaviour Among Chinese Adolescents in Hong Kong. *Springer*, 455–474.
- Sun, R.C.F. and Shek, D.T.L. (2012). Positive youth development, life satisfaction and problem behavior among Chinese adolescents in Hong Kong: A replication. *Social Indicators Research*, 541–559.
- Sun, R.C.F. and Shek, D.T.L. (2013). Longitudinal influences of positive development and life satisfaction on problem behaviour among adolescents in Hong Kong. *Social Indicators Research*, doi:10.1007/s11205-012-0196-4.
- Sussman, S., Pokhrel, P., Ashmore, R.D. and Brown, B.B. (2007). Adolescent peer group identification and characteristics: A review of the literature. *Addictive Behaviors*, 32, 1602-1627.
- Swami, V. and Tovée, M.J. (2005). Female physical attractiveness in Britain and Malaysia: A cross-cultural study. *Body Image*, 2, 115–128.
- Tabachnick, B.G. and Fidell, L.S. (2001). *Using Multivariate Statistics (4th ed.)*. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Tacoli, C. (1998). Rural-urban interactions: A guide to the literature. *Environment and Urbanization*, *10* (1), 147–166.
- Tebes, J.K., Feinn, R., Vanderploeg, J.J., Chinman, M.J., Shepard, J. and Brabham, T. (2007). Impact of a positive youth development program in urban after-school settings on the prevention of adolescent substance use. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 239–247.
- Tee, G.H. and Kaur, G. (2014). Correlates of Current Smoking Among Malaysian Adolescent School Children. *Asia-Pacific journal of public health*.
- ter Bogt, T., Van Dorsselaer, S., Monshouwer, K., Verdurmen, J., Engels, R. and Vollebergh, W. (2006). Body mass index and body weight perception at risk

- factors for internalizing and externalizing problem behavior among adolescents. *Journal of Adolescents Health*, 39: 27-34.
- Theokas, C. and Lerner, R.M. (2006). Observed Ecological Assets in Families, Schools, and Neighborhoods: Conceptualization, Measurement and Relations with Positive and Negative Developmental Outcomes. *Applied Developmental Science*, 61-74.
- Tobin-Richards, M.H., Boxer, A.M. and Petersen, A.C. (1983). The psychological significance of pubertal change: Sex differences in perceptions of self during early adolescence. In J. &. Brooks-Gunn, *Girls at puberty: Biological and psychosocial perspectives* (pp. 127-15). New York: Plenum.
- Turan, M.T. and Besirli, A. (2008). Impact of Urbanization process on mental health. *Anatolian Journal of Psychiatry*, 238-243.
- Underwood, L.G. (2011). The Daily Spiritual Experience Scale: Overview and Results. *Religions*, 29-50.
- US Department of Health and Human Services, Family and Youth Services Bureau. (2007). Putting positive youth development into practice: a resource guide. Retrieved from United Nations Convention on the rights of the Child: http://www.unhchr.ch/
- Valois, R.F., Zullig, K.J., Huebner, E.S. and Drane, J.W. (2003). Dieting behaviors, weight perceptions, and life satisfaction among public high school adolescents. *Eating Disorders*, 11:271-278.
- Weiss, L.H. and Schwarz, J.C. (1996). The Relationship between Parenting Types and Older Adolescents' Personality, Academic Achievement, Adjustment, and Substance Use. *Child Development*, 2101–2114.
- Windle, M., Mun, E.Y. and Windle, R.C. (2005). Adolescent-to-young adulthood heavy drinking trajectories and their prospective predictors. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 50-68.
- Wong, D.S.W. (2004). School bullying and tackling strategies in Hong Kong. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 537–553.
- Yaacob, S.N., Aun, T.S., Jo-Pei, T. and Juhari, R. (2012). Malaysian Adolescents' Life Satisfaction. *Archives Des Sciences*, 65: 182-192.
- Yaakub, N.F. and Leong, G.C. (2007). *Violence in schools: Moving forward*. Retrieved October 28, 2008, from http://www.unicef.org/malaysia/protection_6930.html
- Yahaya, N., Abolfathi Momtaz, Y., Othman, M., Sulaiman, N. and Mat Arisah, F. (2012). Spiritual Well-Being and Mental Health among Malaysian Adolescents. *Life Science Journal*.
- Zaitsoff, S.L, Fehon, D.C. and Grilo, C.M. (2009). Social competence and socialemotional isolation and eating disorder psychopathology in female and male

- adolescent psychiatric inpatients [Electronic version]. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, 219-228.
- Zimmerman, M.A., Salem, D.A. and Maton, K.I. (1995). Family structure and psychosocial correlates among urban African-American adolescent males. *Child Development*, 66, 1598-1613.
- Zimmerman, S., Phelps, E. and Lerner, R.M. (2007). Intentional self-regulation in early ado—lescence: Assessing the structure of selection, optimization, and compensations processes. *European Journal of Developmental Science*, 272-299.
- Zimmerman, S.M., Phelpsa, E. and Lerner, R.M. (2008). Positive and Negative Developmental Trajectories in U.S. Adolescents: Where the Positive Youth Development Perspective Meets the Deficit Model. *Research in Human Development*, 153-165.
- Zinnbauer, B.J., Pargament, K.I. and Scott, A.B. (1999). The emerging meaningsof religiousness and spirituality: Problems and prospects. *Journal of Personality*, 889–919.